## IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF IOWA NO. 19-0838

# STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee

vs.

# ZACHARY TYLER ZACARIAS, Defendant-Appellant.

# APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY, JUDGE ROBERT B. HANSON

# APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Andy Dunn Jessica Donels Parrish Kruidenier Dunn Boles Gribble Gentry Brown Bergmann & Messamer L.L.P. 2910 Grand Avenue Des Moines, Iowa 50312 Telephone: (515) 284-5737 Facsimile: (515) 284-1704 Email: <u>adunn@parrishlaw.com</u> ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

#

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

I. Jury instruction No. 28, which defined an "object" under Iowa Code § 708.2(5), was not supported by law, and allowed the jury to convict Zacarias on a theory not permitted by the statute.

Alcala v. Marriott Int'l, Inc., 880 N.W.2d 699 (Iowa 2016) Maguire v. Fulton, 179 N.W.2d 508 (Iowa 1970) State v. Caskey, 539 N.W.2d 176 (Iowa 1995) State v. Hanes, 790 N.W.2d 545 (Iowa 2010) State v. Johnson, 217 N.W.2d 609 (Iowa 1974) State v. King, No. 16-1615, 2017 WL 6039990 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 6, 2017)

State v. Leedom, 938 N.W.2d 177 (Iowa 2020)

*State v. Monk*, 514 N.W.2d 448 (Iowa 1994)

State v. Vulich, No. 15-1851, 2017 WL 363234 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 25, 2017)

Iowa Code § 702.17

Iowa Code § 708.1

Iowa Code § 708.2

Iowa Code § 709.1

Iowa Code § 709.4

Sex Offenses – Admission of Evidence – Prior Criminal Offenses, 2003 Ia. Legis. Serv. Ch. 132 (S.F. 402)

"Object," Mirriam-Webster Dictionary, 2020

"Object," Miriam-Webster Thesaurus, 2020

Antonin Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts 33 (2012)

II. Under a proper reading of Iowa Code § 708.2(5), the evidence was insufficient to convict Zacarias of assault by penetration of the genitalia with an object.

In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358 (1970)

State v. Truesdell, 679 N.W.2d 611 (Iowa 2004)

U.S. Const. amend. V.

Iowa Code § 708.2

III. Zacarias was impermissibly restricted in impeaching the credibility of the complaining witness, in violation of his due process right to present a defense and Iowa R. Evid. 5.613.

State v. Berry, 549 N.W.2d 316 (Iowa Ct. App. 1996)

State v. Hensley, 534 N.W.2d 379 (Iowa 1995)

State v. Huston, 825 N.W.2d 531 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Parker, 747 N.W.2d 196 (Iowa 2008)

State v. Simpson, 587 N.W.2d 770 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Turecek, 456 N.W.2d 219 (1990)

Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14 (1967)

U.S. Const. amend. VI

Iowa Const., art. I, § 10

Iowa R. Evid. 5.607

Iowa R. Evid. 5.613

IV. Zacarias received ineffective assistance of trial counsel when trial counsel failed to impeach C.G. on cross examination.

Bierkamp v. Rogers, 293 N.W.2d 577 (Iowa 1980)

Glenn v. Carson, 3 Greene 529 (Iowa 1852)

In re Johnson, 257 N.W.2d 47 (Iowa 1977)

Lichau v. Baldwin, 39 P.3d 851 (Or. 2002)

Millam v. State, 745 N.W.2d 719 (Iowa 2008)

People v. Benevento, 697 N.E.2d 584 (N.Y. Ct. App. 1998) *People v. Rivera*, 525 N.E.2d 698 (N.Y. Ct. App. 1988) State v. Baldon, 829 N.W.2d 785 (Iowa 2013) State v. Clay, 824 N.W.2d 488 (Iowa 2012) State v. Hensley, 534 N.W.2d 379 (Iowa 1995) State v. Jones, 759 P.2d 558 (Alaska Ct. App. 1988) State v. Macke, 933 N.W.2d 226 (Iowa 2019) State v. Martin, 704 N.W.2d 665 (Iowa 2005) State v. Ondayog, 722 N.W.2d 778 (Iowa 2006) State v. Pals, 805 N.W.2d 767 (Iowa 2011) State v. Senn, 882 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2016) State v. Short, 851 N.W.2d 474 (Iowa 2014) State v. Smith, 712 P.2d 496 (Ha. 1986) State v. Straw, 709 N.W.2d 128 (Iowa 2006) State v. Tonn, 195 N.W. 530 (1923) State v. Vaimili, 353 P.3d 1034 (Ha. 2015) State v. Young, 863 N.W.2d 249 (Iowa 2015) Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) Varnum v. Brien, 763 N.W.2d 862 (Iowa 2009) 10

U.S. Const. amend. VI

Iowa Const. art. I, § 10

Iowa Code § 814.7

Iowa R. Evid. 5.613

V. Zacarias received ineffective assistance of trial counsel when trial counsel failed to object to instances of prosecutorial misconduct, including commenting on Zacarias' right to remain silent in violation of the Fifth Amendment and disparaging defense counsel.

State v. Coleman, 907 N.W.2d 124 (Iowa 2018)

State v. Graves, 668 N.W.2d 860 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Ondayog, 722 N.W.2d 778 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Porter, 283 N.W.2d 351 (Iowa 1979)

State v. Straw, 709 N.W.2d 128 (Iowa 2006)

Iowa Code 814.7

VI. In light of the cumulative effect of the above errors, Zacarias was denied his right to a fair trial.

State v. Clay, 824 N.W.2d 488 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Simpson, 587 N.W.2d 770 (Iowa 1998).

*Washington v. Texas*, 388 U.S. 14 (1967)

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

Regarding Issue I, Zacarias appeals after he was convicted on the basis of an improper jury instructions that misstated the law regarding Iowa Code § 708.2(5). This is a substantial issue of first impression, requiring the enunciation of legal issues (i.e., the meaning and scope of a criminal statute) and involving issues of broad public importance that will require ultimate determination by the Iowa Supreme Court. *See* Iowa Rs. App. P. 6.1101(2)(a), (c)-(d), (f).

Issues IV and V involve the constitutionality and validity of recently amended Iowa Code § 814.7, which provides "[a]n ineffective assistance of counsel claim . . . shall not be decided on direct appeal from the criminal proceedings." These are substantial issues of first impression and fundamental issues of broad public importance that require ultimate determination by the Iowa Supreme Court. *See* Iowa Rs. App. P. 6.1101(2)(a), (c)-(d), (f).

Issues II, III and VI involve the routine application of existing legal principles and are appropriate for transfer to the Iowa Court of Appeals. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3)(a).

#### **CASE STATEMENT**

Zachary Zacarias appeals the guilty verdict and judgment against him because it was based on an improper and illegal jury instruction: it allowed the jury to convict him of assault by penetration of genitalia with an object, based on a definition of object that was not supported by law. Under a correct interpretation of the law, the evidence is not sufficient to sustain a conviction for assault by penetration of genitalia with an object. This basis alone is sufficient to overturn the judgment against Zacarias; however, Zacarias was also prejudiced by erroneous evidentiary rulings which prevented him from fully impeaching the complaining witness's testimony, and by ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to object to prosecutorial misconduct. These cumulative errors deprived Zacarias of his right to a fair trial.

#### **COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS**

Zacarias was charged by trial information with one count of assault – penetration of genitalia or anus with object, in violation of Iowa Code §§ 708.1 and 708.2(5). (App. p. 6). The Minutes of Testimony alleged that Zacarias, then aged 21, was hosting a party at his home in May of 2017 when he had a non-consensual sexual encounter with C.G., who was 17. (Min. of Testimony, Nov. 13, 2018). Zacarias pled not guilty, and a jury trial was eventually scheduled for April 1, 2019. This case represents the second time that Zacarias was charged for the acts occurring in May of 2017. Zacarias was initially charged on August 1, 2017, in Polk County Crim. No. FECR306652, with sex abuse in the third degree in violation of Iowa Code §§ 709.1 and 709.4(1)(a) and/or 709.4(1)(d). (Trial info. FECR306652, Aug. 1, 2017).<sup>1</sup> On August 22, 2018, defense counsel filed a motion to dismiss for a speedy trial violation. (Mot. FECR306652, Aug. 22, 2018). The motion was granted the following day. (Ord. Dismissal FECR306652, Aug. 23, 2018). The present case

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Judicial notice may be taken on appeal pursuant to Iowa R. Evid. 5.201(f). "The rule permits a court to take judicial notice of adjudicative facts "capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned." Iowa R. Evid. 5.201(a)-(b). *State v. Washington*, 832 N.W.2d 650, 655-56 (Iowa 2013). Although "[t]he general rule is that it is not proper for the court to consider or take judicial notice of the records of the same court in a different proceeding without an agreement of the parties," *see Leuchtenmacher v. farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co.*, 460 N.W.2d 858, 861 (Iowa 1990), these records are referenced only for context and they are not determinative of the outcome in this case.

was refiled by criminal complaint shortly after the first one was dismissed. (App. p. 3 Complaint, Oct. 1, 2018).

Zacarias was found guilty after trial. (Crim. Verdict April 5, 2019). Judgment entered and he was sentenced to an indeterminate term of 10 years imprisonment. (App. p. 12). As part of his sentence, he was also required to register as a sex offender. *Id.* This notice of appeal followed (App. p.17).

#### FACTS

Zacarias maintained from the moment he was questioned by police officers that the encounter was consensual. As Officer Dyer testified, consent does not have to be vocal. *Id.* at 47:2-11. Zacarias informed police officers that he and C.G. began making out. (TT III 27:8-15). Zacarias stated that C.G. fell asleep, but that after she woke up, they cuddled and began making out again. *Id.* at 28:3-5. He stated that C.G. was an active participant in removing her clothing. *Id.* at 45:3-15. He stated that C.G. moved her body in a way that was consistent with consent. *Id.* at 47:8-48:1. Zacarias' position has consistently been that this was a consensual encounter. The state argued that C.G. was too intoxicated to consent. However, Officer Dyer did not observe her to be intoxicated when he questioned her shortly after she left the party. (TT III 38:23-39:9). At trial, multiple inconsistencies between the various witnesses' accounts of the night were brough to light. Specifically, C.G. testified that she drank vodka and orange juice. (TT IV 22:19-23). But Meghan Storlie testified that the only alcohol present was Natural Ice. (TT III 7:11-23). C.G. testified that there was a variety of drugs at the party – cocaine, marijuana – but Storlie testified that the people at the house were just drinking. (TT II 95:8-12; TT IV 35:17-36:7).

At various times, C.G.'s explanation of which substances she ingested changed. She testified to the jury that she had taken Trazadone before going to Zacarias' house. (TT IV 23:5-16). She testified that she had taken hits of marijuana wax. (TT IV 34:-21-35:10). She did not tell the sexual assault nurse about using marijuana or drinking alcohol. (TT III 120:21-121:12). She did not tell the investigating officers that she had taken any drugs that night. (TT IV 91:5-7). Later, she told the detective that she had not taken her Trazadone that night at all. (TT IV 75:8-11). The jury did not get

to hear the full scope of these inconsistencies as a result of the trial court's evidentiary rulings that the defense could not admit inconsistent hearsay statements without confronting C.G. with those statements. (TT IV 64:10-72:9).

C.G.'s testimony regarding why she went to Zacarias' house and how she left the house was also inconsistent. C.G. testified that she went to Zacarias' house because he had offered to give her a ride home. (TT IV 18:3-9). However, Zacarias' house was only a block or two away from her boyfriend's house. (TT IV 48:17-21). C.G. testified that she woke up in Zacarias' room, pushed him off of her by hitting his jaw so hard he fell to the floor, and then escaped his room by pushing aside a dresser that had blocked the door. (TT IV 28:19-30-13). However, the police officer who questioned Zacarias that night did not see any indication that his face had been injured by a blow. (TT III 98:19-99:3). Storlie, who saw C.G. run out of Zacarias' bedroom, did not hear any sounds consistent with Zacarias being knocked to the floor or furniture being moved. (TT III 5:14-21).

At trial, C.G. testified that she grabbed her bag and her shorts and swimsuit bottoms and ran out of Zacarias' room with her bottom half naked (TT IV 4:14-16), leaving her flip flops behind (TT IV 32:4-12), and only stopping to put on clothes when she was at the top of the basement stairs or outside of the house. (TT IV 46:15-25). During deposition, she testified that she woke up fully naked (TT IV 46:11-14), and did not get dressed until she reached the mailbox or her boyfriend's house. (TT IV 44:17-45:24). Storlie testified that C.G. was clothed when she ran from the basement. (TT III 5:10-13).

The police did not investigate many aspects of C.G.'s story. They never got a warrant (or asked for consent) to search Zacarias' home to investigate whether there were alcohol or drugs consistent with C.G.'s report, or whether her flip flops were in Zacarias' bedroom, or there was evidence of furniture being moved. (TT 101:25-102:2). Although C.G.'s underwear was tested for DNA, the test was unable to positively confirm that the DNA was from Zacarias. (TT IV 63:1-64:5). Nevertheless, the state proceeded on the theory that C.G. was intoxicated such that she was incapable of consent during the encounter with Zacarias. (TT V 5:20-25 ). Ultimately, the consent issue came down to credibility: whether the jury believed Zacarias, that C.G. had consented to the encounter, or they believed C.G.'s version, which lacked consent.

Prior to trial, Zacarias' counsel filed proposed jury instructions defining an "object" under Iowa Code § 708.2(5) as follows: "The term 'object' means a material thing other than any portion of the defendant's body or organs." (App. p. 9). The State opposed this instruction and argued for the dictionary instruction that was ultimately provided to the jury: "An 'object' means anything that is visible or tangible and is relatively stable in form." (TT IV 84:1-10 (state's argument in response to motion for judgment of acquittal based on definition of an object); TT IV 99:9-15 (state's argument regarding the final jury instruction); (App.p. 11). Throughout the trial, there was no evidence that Zacarias used an "object" – other than his finger – to penetrate or attempt to penetrate the genitalia.

#### ARGUMENT

I. Jury instruction No. 28, which defined an "object" under Iowa Code § 708.2(5), was not supported by law, and allowed the jury to convict Zacarias on a theory not permitted by the statute.

A. Standard of Review and Error Preservation

Error was preserved where trial counsel requested a correct jury instruction defining object (App. p. 9), objecting to the state's proposed jury instruction, and receiving a ruling adopting the state's proposed definition of object. (TT IV 98:11-100:2). Zacarias also relied on his proposed definition of "object" in arguing the motion for judgment of acquittal, which was denied. (TT IV 80:4-10).

The standard of review for challenges to jury instructions is for correction of errors at law. *Alcala v. Marriott Int'l, Inc.*, 880 N.W.2d 699, 707 (Iowa 2016). The court must "Determine whether the challenged instruction accurately states the law and is supported by substantial evidence." *State v. Hanes*, 790 N.W.2d 545, 548 (Iowa 2010). Where the erroneous jury instruction affects a defendant's constitutional rights, prejudice is presumed unless the state shows "beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not result in prejudice." *Id.* at 550 (citation omitted).

### **B. Argument**

Zacarias was charged with assault – penetration of genitalia or anus with object, in violation of Iowa Code §§ 708.1 and 708.2(5).<sup>2</sup> "Object" has not been defined by Iowa law, by the drafters of the Iowa Criminal Model Jury Instructions, or by any appellate court in Iowa.<sup>3</sup> The state requested an instruction defining object as "anything that is visible or tangible and is relatively stable in form." (Jury Inst. No. 28). During closing argument, the state argued that "object" included

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This charging decision was significant – the state had previously charged Zacarias with sex abuse in the third degree in violation of Iowa Code §§ 709.1 and 709.4(1)(a) and/or 709.4(1)(d). (Trial info. FECR306652, Aug. 1, 2017). That case was dismissed due to a speedy trial violation, and the state was not permitted to re-file the same charges under existing precedent. *State v. Johnson*, 217 N.W.2d 609, 612 (Iowa 1974). The state was required to file this case under the "object" statute to avoid speedy trial issues, but ultimately its definition of "object" allowed it to proceed as if it had actually charged Zacarias under the sex abuse statute.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Counsel was only able to find two cases where a conviction for assault by penetration of genitalia or anus with an object were appealed. In *State v. King*, No. 16-1615, 2017 WL 6039990 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 6, 2017), the allegation involved penetration of genitalia with a vibrator. In *State v. Vulich*, No. 15-1851, 2017 WL 363234 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 25, 2017), the allegation involved penetration of genitalia with ice cubes. In both cases, the defendants challenged the sufficiency of the evidence to support a finding that they intended to assault the victim, and not whether "object" was properly defined.

body: "So a finger is an object. A tongue is an object."<sup>4</sup> (TT V 8 7:8). The defense requested an instruction defining object as "a material thing other than any portion of the defendant's body or organs," (Statement of the Case and Jury Instructions at 19) or else that no instruction be given at all. (TT IV 98:16-21).

Zacarias' proposed instruction was the correct instruction. It is supported by canons of statutory construction, and consistent with the history of the statute in other jurisdictions. Instructing the jury that a part of Zacarias' body or organs was an "object" under Iowa law allowed the jury to convict him of a crime that, under any view of the evidence, did not occur.

# 1. Plain meaning of the word "object."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The mention of a tongue and related argument was independently problematic because there was no allegation or evidence that Zacarias committed assault using his tongue at all. The version of the story presented to the jury was that Zacarias first committed penetration using his fingers, and then attempted to commit penetration using his penis, but was unable to do so. (TT III 29:15-30:19). No one testified that Zacarias performed an oral sex act. The officer who interviewed Zacarias denied that Zacarias claimed he performed oral sex. (TT III 31-32.)

The word "object" in § 708.2(5) should be defined by its plain and rational meaning. *State v. Caskey*, 539 N.W.2d 176, 177 (Iowa 1995) ("When a statute's terms are unambiguous and its meaning plain, there is no need to apply principles of statutory construction."). Mirriam-Webster defines an object as "something material that may be perceived by the senses." Mirriam-Webster Dictionary, 2020.<sup>5</sup> The thesaurus lists "thing", "article," and "item," as the first three synonyms for object. Mirriam-Webster Thesaurus, 2020.<sup>6</sup>

The state argued that an object should be defined as "any tangible thing" and that a tangible thing includes body parts. However, the state's inclusion of body parts in this definition of object is not supported by common sense usage of the word "object" and is not a "fair reading" of the statute. *See* Antonin Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts 33 (2012) (defining "Fair Reading method" as "determining the application of a governing text to given facts on the basis of how a reasonable reader,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> <u>https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/object</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> <u>https://www.merriam-webster.com/thesaurus/object</u>.

fully competent in the language, would have understood the text."). A person would not refer to themselves or their body parts as "objects" in ordinary speech. The word "object" does not imply the kind of agency that a person has over their own body.

The state's closing argument reveals that there was no "object" used in the ordinary sense in this case – Zacarias was alleged to have used his finger to penetrate C.G.'s genitalia. (TT V 8:7-8). The prosecutor explicitly argued that the finger, or any body part, was an object. But, no other appellate case considering this statute has involved a body part. In *King*, the "object" at issue was a vibrator. 2017 WL 6039990 at \*2. In *Vulich*, the object at issue was ice cubes. 2017 WL 363234 at \*1-2. Both defendants were also alleged to have committed sex abuse using their bodies. But those separate acts were not charged as assault by penetration of the genitalia with an object under § 708.2(5), because a common-sense, ordinary definition of the word "object" does not include bodies.

#### 2. Context Clues.

Other Iowa Statutes criminalizing sexual assault provide further clues to the meaning of the word "object" in § 708.2(5). Iowa law defines a "sex act" or "sexual activity" as "sexual contact between

two or more persons" by:

1. Penetration of the penis into the vagina or anus.

2. Contact between the mouth and genitalia or by contact between the genitalia of one person and the genitalia or anus of another person.

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