IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA  
Supreme Court No. 19–0838

---

STATE OF IOWA,  
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

ZACHARY TYLER ZACARIAS,  
Defendant-Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR POLK COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE ROBERT B. HANSON, JUDGE

---

**APPELLEE’S BRIEF**

---

THOMAS J. MILLER  
Attorney General of Iowa

**LOUIS S. SLOVEN**  
Assistant Attorney General  
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
(515) 281-5976  
[Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov](mailto:Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov)

JOHN P. SARCONI  
Polk County Attorney

NAN HORVAT & MICHAEL SALVNER  
Assistant Polk County Attorneys

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

##

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

First, Zacarias argues that the prosecutor “[d]isparaged defense counsel for ‘just yell[ing]’ and ‘attack[ing] the police’ investigation.” *See* Def’s Br. at 56 (citing TrialTr.V5 35:10–13). Zacarias argues that this is prosecutorial misconduct because it is a personal attack on defense counsel, not an attack on the defense theory or advocacy. *See* Def’s Br. at 57 (citing *State v. Coleman*, 907 N.W.2d 124, 140 (Iowa 2018)). But that misreads *Coleman*, where the Iowa Supreme Court explained that it was not misconduct for a prosecutor to say that the defense was trying to “blow a lot of smoke around the law, make it as fuzzy as possible”—it explained that “these statements did not amount to alleged prosecutorial misconduct because they were made to attack the defense’s theory of the case rather than defense counsel personally.” *See Coleman*, 907 N.W.2d at 138–140.

On a related note, two of Zacarais’s other claims of misconduct allege that the State was vouching for the police. One statement that Zacarias targets was: “This isn’t the cop’s fault. They did their job, period.” *See* Def’s Br. at 56 (quoting TrialTr.V5 36:11–12). He also targets a statement that the police “did their job perfectly.” *See* Def’s Br. at 57 (quoting TrialTr.V5 40:24–25). This is not vouching. It is not an expression of personal belief in the truth of their testimony. Rather, it is a fair argument from the evidence that established the course of the investigation. Zacarias cites *Graves* as support for his argument that this is vouching—but nothing in *Graves* supports that mistaken assertion. *See State v. Graves*, 668 N.W.2d 860, 879–80 (Iowa 2003) (explaining that misconduct arose from comments about credibility of officer testimony that “went beyond any evidence in the case, implying that the prosecutor knew something the jurors did not”).

It is particularly unfair for Zacarias to argue these statements are prosecutorial misconduct because his own closing argument focused on attacking the quality of the police officers’ investigative work. *See* TrialTr.V5 18:8–19:11. Zacarias was arguing that each of the officers “didn’t bother to do his job” because “they weren’t really conducting an investigation” and had already “came to a conclusion that [he]

clearly was guilty.” *See* TrialTr.V5 19:20–20:16. Zacarias repeatedly proposed possible versions of events and asked the jury whether they happened, and then answered: “we don’t know because [the officers] didn’t ask.” *See* TrialTr.V5 20:17–26:4.

“A prosecutor is not required to sit mute and let the defendant’s interpretation of evidence go unchallenged,” and arguments that are responsive will get “additional leeway because it was the defendant’s own new argument that prompted the prosecutor’s response.” *See State v. Thornton*, 498 N.W.2d 670, 676–77 (Iowa 1993); *accord Wycoff v. State*, 382 N.W.2d 462, 468 (Iowa 1986) (quoting *State v. Wright*, 309 N.W.2d 891, 893 (Iowa 1981)). And it is not misconduct for a prosecutor’s closing arguments to include “statements aimed at the theory of the defense.” *See Coleman*, 907 N.W.2d at 140.

One fact about the investigation that became important was the fact that none of Zacarias’s friends who were at the party (except for Storlie) would speak with police, and Zacarias never came in for the voluntary interviews that he scheduled. *See* TrialTr.V4 56:12–60:23. Zacarias argues that it was misconduct to present that testimony and to mention that fact in argument, because it is “[c]ommenting on [his] exercise of the right to remain silent and not talk to law enforcement.”

*See* Def's Br. at 55–58 (citing TrialTr.V4 58:21–60:17 and TrialTr.V5 36:8–9). But this was a fair response to Zacarias's attacks on the investigation: he argued that officers had decided what they believed and did not bother attempting to collect evidence. It was fair game to remind jurors that the evidence (which came in without objection) established that it was impossible to take certain investigative steps that would have addressed Zacarias's complaints, because Zacarias and his friends decided not to cooperate. *See* TrialTr.V4 56:12–60:23.

This was not argued as substantive proof of Zacarias's guilt—instead, it was presented to show that police looked into all possible sources of information about what happened at that party:

The officers did their job. They documented everything he said; right? And then it was referred to detectives, and then detectives went to go follow up; right? And they called all the witnesses they could find.

[C.G.] came in. [Detective Anderson] even talked with Meghan, the one person that was kind of a random person at this party that didn't really know many people, talked to her. The defendant spoke with the detective twice, scheduling an appointment and never showing up. And all of the defendant's friends never even bothered to call the detective back. This isn't the cops' fault. They did their job, period.

TrialTr.V5 35:25–36:12. Iowa courts will not find remarks to be an impermissible comment on the invocation of a right to remain silent “when an equally plausible explanation exists for the comments.” *See*



*State v. Lindsey*, No. 10–1812, 2011 WL 6076544, at \*5 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 7, 2011) (citing *Van Hoff v. State*, 447 N.W.2d 665, 675 (Iowa Ct. App. 1989)); accord *Brewer v. State*, 444 N.W.2d 77, 84 (Iowa 1989) (finding that no prosecutorial misconduct occurred when “the comments were not directed at Brewer’s failure to testify, but at general prosecutorial frustration over developing evidence when the crime scene is controlled by the perpetrator of the crime”); *State v. Bishop*, 387 N.W.2d 554, 564 (Iowa 1986) (finding no misconduct occurred when “this prosecutor’s statement advanced his asserted strategy to thwart defendant’s effort to divert the focus to the State and to impeach the credibility of the State’s witnesses”). The State was entitled to prove and argue that police really made a good-faith effort to interview everyone involved and gather all of the facts, and any doubt as to whether that was fair game would have been dispelled when Zacarias made the alleged deficiencies in the investigation into one of his primary theories of the defense.

Zacarias argues that the prosecutor was “[d]isparaging defense counsel for impeaching C.G. or arguing that she was not credible” by stating: “For whatever reason, towards the end they decide they want to attack [C.G.] by saying she’s making things up.” See Def’s Br. at 56

(quoting TrialTr.V5 38:20–22). Again, this is not objectionable because this was aimed at the defense theory; it was not a personal attack on defense counsel. *See Coleman*, 907 N.W.2d at 138–140.

Finally, Zacarias claims the prosecutor committed misconduct by “[a]rguing that a ‘tongue’ could be an object when there was no evidence to suggest that a tongue was involved in this case, and claiming that Zacarias stated he performed oral sex on C.G.” *See* Def’s Br. at 56–57 (citing TrialTr.V5 41:12-20); *see also* Def’s Br. at 22 n.4. Zacarias is wrong. An officer testified that Zacarias told them that he performed oral sex on C.G., but not until his fourth or fifth retelling. *See* TrialTr.V3 88:5–89:15. Also, there was evidence that saliva from someone other than C.G. was found in a sample taken from C.G.’s bikini bottoms. *See* TrialTr.V4 62:13–63:16.

Even if any of these were objectionable misconduct, Zacarias would need to establish prejudice through the five-factor *Graves* test. *See Graves*, 668 N.W.2d at 876–77. He has not built that advocacy, and the State has nothing to respond to. This Court should decline to build that advocacy on Zacarias’s behalf. *See Hyler v. Garner*, 548 N.W.2d 864, 876 (Iowa 1996); *Inghram v. Dairyland Mut. Ins. Co.*, 215 N.W.2d 239, 240 (Iowa 1974); Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(g)(3).

If Zacarias had made any argument to try to establish prejudice, the State would point out that the jury was instructed that closing arguments were not evidence, and they were told to decide the case solely on the evidence that was presented through testimony and exhibits. *See* Jury Instr. 11; App. 10. That minimizes the impact of any impermissible argument because jurors are presumed to have followed that instruction, and they are presumed to have reached their verdict on the basis of the evidence presented—rather than arguments. *See State v. Musser*, 721 N.W.2d 734, 756 (Iowa 2006); *accord State v. Towney*, No. 14–1673, 2016 WL 530262, at \*5 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 10, 2016) (finding alleged misconduct did not deprive defendant of a fair trial when “the jury was instructed it should base its verdict only on the evidence and that the statements, arguments, questions, and comments by the lawyers were not evidence”). And the misconduct that Zacarias identifies is mostly confined to rebuttal, and was responsive to the defense closing—so the first and fifth factors of the *Graves* framework would weigh against finding prejudice. Finally, the evidence from C.G.’s testimony, from Storlie’s testimony, and from Zacarias’s own statements was very strong evidence of guilt. Zacarias could not show prejudice for these claims, even if he had tried to.

**C. Zacarias cannot show that Article I, Section 10 provides a right to more effective counsel than Iowa precedent already guarantees.**

Zacarias argues that “the bar to relief set by *Strickland*’s interpretation of the ‘prejudice’ prong requires a closer look under the Iowa Constitution.” *See* Def’s Br. at 42–50. He argues that Iowa should adopt a constitutional harmless error standard for all claims of ineffective assistance of counsel—which really means adopting that standard for all unpreserved claims of error. *See* Def’s Br. at 49–50. The Iowa Supreme Court recently denied retention and further review in appeals where litigants raised identical arguments. *See, e.g., Hicks v. State*, No. 18–1625, 2019 WL 4297874, at \*2 & n.3 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 11, 2019); *Beloved v. State*, No. 17–1908, 2019 WL 1300224, at \*1 (Iowa Ct. App. Mar. 20, 2019). And it also frequently reiterates:

To establish prejudice in the context of an ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claim, a defendant must show a reasonable probability that the result of the trial would have been different. The likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not just conceivable. A defendant must show the probability of a different result is sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. This standard requires us to consider the totality of the evidence, identify what factual findings would have been affected, and determine if the error was pervasive or isolated and trivial.

*See State v. Kuhse*, 937 N.W.2d 622, 628 (Iowa 2020) (quoting *State v. Ambrose*, 861 N.W.2d 550, 557–59 (Iowa 2015)).

Zacarias is correct that *State v. Young* did describe Article I, Section 10 as “double-breasted”—but that refers to its *scope*, and that does not imply any divergence in the *substance* of the protections or guarantees it affords. *See* Def’s Br. at 45; *State v. Young*, 863 N.W.2d 249, 256–57 (Iowa 2015). It is not relevant that Article I, Section 10 reaches “cases involving the life, or liberty of an individual” because Zacarias is only claiming that his right to counsel was violated during a criminal prosecution. *See State v. Green*, 896 N.W.2d 770, 775 n.1, 778 n.3 (Iowa 2017). Nor is it relevant that the Iowa Supreme Court has construed this provision of the Iowa Constitution (or others) in ways that differ from constructions given to analogous provisions of the United States Constitution. Even when a litigant quotes the most uplifting language ever written about the Iowa Constitution and its historical importance, “[w]e should not simply ‘reflexively find in favor of any new right or interpretation asserted.’” *See State v. Storm*, 898 N.W.2d 140, 149 (Iowa 2017) (quoting *Commonwealth v. Gary*, 91 A.3d 102, 126 (Pa. 2014)). And the *Strickland* dissent has been available since the opinion was published—its concerns are not new, and they have turned out to be overblown. *See* Def’s Br. at 47–48 (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 710–11 (Marshall, J., dissenting)).

Justice Marshall worried that counsel's ineffectiveness will result in an incomplete record that lacks the very evidence that could illustrate the impact of counsel's alleged ineffectiveness—but Iowa law allows convicted defendants to file PCR actions to build that record, with the assistance of new counsel (as authorized by Iowa statutes, not by any constitutional provision). And Justice Marshall's concerns that trials should be conducted by "fundamentally fair procedures" are valid, but they are properly reserved for the kind of ineffective assistance that could amount to *structural* error. *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 710–11 (Marshall, J., dissenting). If Zacarias prevails in showing that there was a single meritorious objection that could have been raised to a single misstep in the prosecutor's rebuttal, surely that would not warrant a presumption that the entire trial was fundamentally unfair.

It is ironic to argue that *Strickland* is antithetical to some powerful constitutional tradition in Iowa, because Iowa had already adopted a *more* demanding prejudice standard before *Strickland*: Iowa courts held that prejudice "cannot be found unless the error constitutes a denial of the accused's due process right to a fair trial, a fundamental miscarriage of justice, or an equivalent constitutional deprivation." *See State v. Miles*, 344 N.W.2d 231, 234 (Iowa 1984).

Indeed, *Miles* approved of the description of the prejudice standard provided in the Fifth Circuit’s opinion in *Washington v. Strickland*—that breach needed to create “actual and substantial disadvantage”—before the U.S. Supreme Court softened that standard in *Strickland*. *See id.* at 234–35 (quoting *Washington v. Strickland*, 693 F.2d 1243, 1262 (5th Cir. 1982), *rev’d by Strickland*, 466 U.S. 668). It would not make sense for the Iowa Constitution to demand *less* from litigants claiming a deprivation of this constitutional right to effective counsel, when the Iowa Supreme Court was previously comfortable with a standard that imposed a slightly *heavier* burden than *Strickland*. *See, e.g., Fryer v. State*, 325 N.W.2d 400, 414 (Iowa 1982) (explaining that prejudice is not shown “[w]hen there is no reasonable possibility that the error complained of might have contributed to the conviction”); *cf. Halverson*, 857 N.W.2d at 640 (Mansfield, J., concurring specially) (noting that most jurisdictions that use non-*Strickland* frameworks “had pre-*Strickland* ineffective-assistance standards under their state constitutions that they simply kept after *Strickland* was decided”).

Requiring *Strickland* prejudice furthers legitimate interests in finality and in avoiding unnecessary retrials. If a litigant identifies a breach but cannot show prejudice, then confidence in the ultimate

fairness of the trial is not undermined. *E.g.*, *King*, 797 N.W.2d at 576 (finding no *Strickland* prejudice because “it is hard to see how these relatively minor issues had a reasonable probability of affecting the outcome of this case”). Article I, Section 10 does not guarantee a perfect trial—it guarantees a *fair* trial. There is no reason to toss out a conviction if it was obtained following a fair trial, no matter how many unpreserved errors can be identified with the benefit of hindsight.

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